
All topics on the Agenda are potential Action Items.  

The Library will provide reasonable aids or services to afford an individual with a disability an equal opportunity to participate in all services, programs and facilities. Persons requiring assistance 
should notify Library of their needs well in advance to provide sufficient time to make an accommodation. Contact Library Administration at 847-825-3123, TTY 847-825-8217. 

Park Ridge Public Library 
Regular Board Meeting – AGENDA – January 16, 2024 at 7:00 PM 

Meeting Location: 
Park Ridge Public Library – 20 S. Prospect, Park Ridge – 1st Floor Meeting Room 

1. Call to Order
2. Roll Call
3. Public Comment on Non-Agenda Items
4. Consent Agenda

* Items listed below are considered routine by the Library Board and will be enacted by one motion. There will be no
discussion of these items unless a Board member so requests, in which event the item will be removed from Consent
for further discussion immediately after the Consent Agenda is approved.

a. Approval of Minutes of the December 19, 2023 Regular Meeting of the Library Board
b. Ratify Bills Payable-Warrant Register for:

    Period 12 Period 12 

Library Fund Warrants $63,406.27 Library Fund Warrants $107,956.13 

Payroll 

$85,913.31 

$89,290.66 Payroll $88,701.34 

Per Capita Grant Fund $0.00 Per Capita Grant Fund $0.00 

North Suburban Digital 
Consortium $6,196.19 

North Suburban Digital 
Consortium $845.06 

Total  $244,807.19 Total  $197,502.53 

c. Approve Cash Statement for all accounts for December 2023
d. Ratify disbursements from the Petty Cash Fund, $66.91
e. Ratify disbursements from the Gift Fund, $0.00
f. Approve revisions to policies A1. Levy and Budget, A2. Library Fund, A3. Purchasing, A4. Payments for Goods

and Services, A6. Expense Reimbursement, A7. Credit Card Use and A8. Capital Assets, as amended.
g. Approve revisions to C21. Display Case/Exhibits policy.

5. Treasurer’s Report
a. Approve the Consolidated Year to Date Revenue and Expenditures Report for December 2023

6. President’s Report

7. Secretary’s Report

8. Library Director's Report
a. Statistics
b. Narrative

9. Friends of the Library Report

10. Unfinished Business

11. New Business

12. Adjournment

1

- 12/16/23 - 12/31/23



MINUTES 

PARK RIDGE PUBLIC LIBRARY 

20 S. Prospect Avenue, Park Ridge, IL 60068 

Regular Meeting of the Board of Trustees  

Held in Council Chambers at City Hall – 505 Butler Place, Park Ridge, IL 

December 19, 2023 at 7:00 p.m. 

Regular Board Meeting  
12.19.23 

Page 1 of 4 

CALL TO ORDER 
President Thiagarajan called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 

ROLL CALL 
Trustees Present: Anita De Frank, Alexandrea Hanba, Vice-President; Josh Kiem, Danielle Powers, 

Lauren Rapisand, Secretary; Theresa Renaldi, Gregg Rusk, Treasurer; David Somheil, 
Deepika Thiagarajan, President  

Others Present: Joanna Bertucci, Library Director; Angela Berger, Lauren Bochat, Anastasia 
Rachmaciej, Laura Scott, Joan Wrenn, Library Staff 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

No comments were made. 

CONSENT AGENDA 
President Thiagarajan directed the Board’s attention to the list of items on the Consent Agenda and stated 
that if a trustee(s) would like an item removed from Consent, the item will be removed for further discussion 
after the Consent Agenda is approved.  
The following items are included on the Consent Agenda:   

 Approval of Minutes of the November 21, 2023 Regular Meeting of the Library Board

 Ratify Bills Payable Warrant Register for Period 11, FY23 November 16, 2023 in the amount of
$217,906.45, and November 30, 2023 in the amount of $204,350.41.

 Approve Cash Statement for all accounts for November, 2023

 Ratify disbursements from the Petty Cash Fund, $20.00 and the Gift Fund, $570.00

 Approve the 2024 Board Meeting Calendar

 Approve Library Furniture International quote LFI QT-3946rev.2 in the amount of $31,600 for
purchase of shelving or Children’s department

 Approve CVI quote 202685 for $19,108 for replacement of security camera server and Quote
202686 for $1,235 for installation of an additional security camera

 Approve the 2024 Per Capita Grant Application

Vice President Hanba made a 
MOTION: To approve the Consent Agenda, as presented 
Secretary Rapisand seconded the motion 
Roll Call Vote:   Yes:  De Frank, Hanba, Kiem, Powers, Rapisand, Renaldi, Rusk, Somheil, Thiagarajan 
Motion passed 

TREASURER’S REPORT 
Treasurer Rusk reviewed the Consolidated YTD Revenue and Expenditures report through November, 2023 
which represents completion of 92% of the fiscal year, noting that total revenues are 71% of budget with 
additional tax revenue expected to be received during December.  On the expense side, operating expenses 
are at 81% of budget, capital expenditures are at 28% of budget which results in total expenditures at 74% of 

2

Return to Agenda



MINUTES 

PARK RIDGE PUBLIC LIBRARY 

20 S. Prospect Avenue, Park Ridge, IL 60068 

Regular Meeting of the Board of Trustees  

Held in Council Chambers at City Hall – 505 Butler Place, Park Ridge, IL 

December 19, 2023 at 7:00 p.m. 

Regular Board Meeting  
12.19.23 

Page 2 of 4 

budget. Treasurer Rusk stated that he expects a large carryover of Capital Projects funds into 2024 as building 
project schedule for 2023 will be finished and paid for in 2024.     

Treasurer Rusk made a 
MOTION: To approve the Consolidated Year to Date Revenue and Expenditures Report for October, 
2023 
Trustee Powers seconded the motion 
Roll Call Vote:   Yes:  De Frank, Hanba, Kiem, Powers, Rapisand, Renaldi, Rusk, Somheil, Thiagarajan 
Motion passed 

PRESIDENT’S REPORT 
None 

SECRETARY’S REPORT 
Secretary Rapisand reviewed the Secretary’s report included in the packet on page 29 noting Library website 
News items and press articles. Trustee Renaldi asked about results of the Celebrity Bartender event in which 
Trustees Rapisand and Hanba served as bartenders at a fundraising event held at Mel’s Craft Barbecue.  
Proceeds from this event were raised for the Friends of the Park Ridge Library and Trustee Rapisand noted that 
in addition to having fun, they raised approximately $300 for the Friends.   

DIRECTOR’S REPORT   
Highlights from the Director’s Report beginning on page 30 of the packet were noted. Director Bertucci noted 
the recent donation by the Sitkiewicz Family in the amount of $10,000 with a matching gift from an employer.  
She explained that this is the most recent gift from this family, in honor of the family’s matriarch, Marion 
Sitkiewicz, with earlier donations being used to fund the fireplace in the Quiet Reading Room, programming 
for both adults and children and the Marion’s Mark Little Free Library (LFL) installation of ten LFLs throughout 
the Park Ridge community.   
Director Bertucci reported that she attended the Friends of the Library semi-annual meeting last week and the 
Friends unanimously approved a $25,000 funding request from the Library; a $10,000 increase over last year! 
The Friends will be holding a Cozy Pop-up Sale on January 13, 2024.  The sale will include puzzles games and 
kids’ books.  Director Bertucci expressed her gratitude for all of the support extended to the Library by the 
Friends.   
Director Bertucci explained that she has access to a Cook County portal that allows her to view property tax 
receipts received.  To date, the Library has received $1.2 million from the second installment of 2022 property 
taxes.   
During the month of November, there were many opportunities within the Library to show gratitude and 
Director Bertucci noted those activities.  She also said that the Library receive notes of gratitude from the 
students at Washington School in Park Ridge.  She stated that she was very impressed with the letters and that 
many demonstrated an excellent understanding of and appreciate for the work done at the Library.  
Secretary Rapisand asked Director Bertucci about the roll-out of the Low Sensory room to which Director 
Bertucci replied that it is generating a great deal of interest and excitement from patrons.  She explained that 
for the next six months staff will monitor its usage.    

FRIENDS OF THE LIBRARY  

3



MINUTES 

PARK RIDGE PUBLIC LIBRARY 

20 S. Prospect Avenue, Park Ridge, IL 60068 

Regular Meeting of the Board of Trustees  

Held in Council Chambers at City Hall – 505 Butler Place, Park Ridge, IL 

December 19, 2023 at 7:00 p.m. 

Regular Board Meeting  
12.19.23 

Page 3 of 4 

No report received from the Friends for this month.  

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
None 

NEW BUSINESS 
President Thiagarajan noted that the agenda item for new business will be taken up after the scheduled Closed 
Session.   

ADJOURNMENT TO CLOSED SESSION 

Vice President Hanba made a 
MOTION: To adjourn the meeting to Closed Session pursuant to 5 ILCS 120/2(c)(1) for discussion of a 
personnel matter 
President Thiagarajan seconded the motion 
Voice Vote:   All in favor 
Motion passed 

RETURN TO OPEN SESSION 

Vice President Hanba made a 
MOTION: To resume the meeting to in Open Session at 7:29 p.m.  
Secretary Rapisand seconded the motion 
Roll Call Vote:   Yes:  De Frank, Hanba, Kiem, Powers, Rapisand, Renaldi, Rusk, Somheil, Thiagarajan 
Motion passed 

NEW BUSINESS 
Approve Library Director Compensation for 2024 
Vice President Hanba stated that she and President Thiagarajan met with Director Bertucci to deliver her 
annual evaluation.  She stated that she speaks for the entire Board when she says that Director Bertucci does 
an amazing job in her position and that the Board is grateful to have her in this position and appreciates all 
that she does on behalf of the Library and the community.   

Vice President Hanba made a 
MOTION: To approve compensation for Director Bertucci for 2024 in the amount of $130,000 
Secretary Rapisand seconded the motion 
Roll Call Vote:   Yes:  De Frank, Hanba, Kiem, Powers, Rapisand, Renaldi, Rusk, Somheil, Thiagarajan 
Motion passed 

ADJOURNMENT 
Trustee Powers made a 
MOTION: To adjourn the meeting 
Trustee Renaldi seconded the motion 
Voice Vote: All in favor.  None opposed 
Motion passed 

4



MINUTES 

PARK RIDGE PUBLIC LIBRARY 

20 S. Prospect Avenue, Park Ridge, IL 60068 

Regular Meeting of the Board of Trustees  

Held in Council Chambers at City Hall – 505 Butler Place, Park Ridge, IL 

December 19, 2023 at 7:00 p.m. 

Regular Board Meeting  
12.19.23 

Page 4 of 4 

The meeting adjourned at 7:32 p.m. 

5



CHASE BANK - OPERATING ACCOUNT

City Administered Library Fund $2,687,510

LIBERTY BANK - PETTY CASH ACCOUNT

Library Administered - Primary use to reimburse lost/paid patron fees

Signers on account are Library Director, Finance and H/R Manager and Adult Services Manager 277$    

CASH ON HAND - GENERAL

Library Administered 530$    

BMO HARRIS - CD
Library Administered - 13 month term with APY 5.25%; Maturity Date: 11/27/24
Opened as a low interest checking account when Liberty Restricted Gift Account balance reached FDIC insurance limit; 

rolled into a CD 10/27/23.

Signers: L ibrary Director and Finance/HR Manager. 125,503$      

LIBERTY BANK - RESTRICTED GIFT ACCOUNT

Library Administered - Both Restricted and Unrestricted Donations - APY of 0.01%

Signers on account are Library Director, Finance and H/R Manager and Adult Services Manager 188,943$      

HUNTINGTON BANK - MALINOWSKI BEQUEST

Library Administered - 335 day term with an APR of 5.07%; Maturity Date 7/07/2024 
Signers on account are Library Director and Finance and H/R Manager $125,000

VILLAGE BANK AND TRUST - MALINOWSKI BEQUEST

Library Administered CD - 12 month term with an APY of 5.20%; Maturity Date 6/08/2024 
Signers on account are Library Director and Finance and H/R Manager $125,000

PARKWAY BANK - ENDOWMENT FUNDS  

Library Administered CD  - 13 month term with an APY of 3.10%; Maturity Date 1/05/2024

Signers on account are Library Director, Finance and H/R Manager and Adult Services Manager 161,048$      

*NORTHERN TRUST - BRUCE MICHEL LIBRARY TRUST

Michel Family Administered $195,173

*The Bruce Michel Library Trust funds are held at Northern Trust and designated for 

technology upgrades.  Quarterly statements are received.  Balance reported is as of Sept. 30, 2023.

Cash Statement

Period 12 - December 2023

8 8

9

14

15

12
13

12

9

8
7

7

6

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

 $-

 $1,000,000

 $2,000,000

 $3,000,000

 $4,000,000

 $5,000,000

 $6,000,000

Dec-22 Jan-23 Feb-23 Mar-23 Apr-23 May-23 Jun-23 Jul-23 Aug-23 Sep-23 23-Oct Nov-23 Dec-23

Cash Balance Breakout
Operations Reserve vs. Capital Funds Avaliable

Cash Balance

Capital Funds
Avaliable

Operations Cash
Balance

Months of
Operations
Reserve

6

Return to Agenda



Property Tax Receipts

Property Tax Receipts

Property Tax Receipts

24340.89

 -

 100,000

 200,000

 300,000

 400,000

 500,000

 600,000

 700,000

 800,000

 900,000

 1,000,000

 1,100,000

Dec-22 Jan-23 Feb-23 Mar-23 Apr-23 May-23 Jun-23 Jul-23 Aug-23 Sep-23 Oct-23 Nov-23 Dec-23

Library Fund
Monthly Revenue and Expense Revenue Expense

7



Approval for payment from Gift Fund: $0.00

-$    

Ratify Disbursements from Petty Cash Account:

1644 Heather Anichini 35.93$    

1645 Kelsey Kapolnek   5.99

1646 Sabriah Floberg 24.99$    

$    66.91

Park Ridge Public Library

Ratification and Approval of Disbursements/Payments

December, 2023

8

Return to Agenda



Memorandum 

Memo Date: January 4, 2024 
From: Joanna Bertucci, Library Director 

Joan Wrenn, Finance/HR Manager 
Meeting Type: Budget and Finance Committee 
Meeting Date: January 9, 2024 

Action Requested: For review and approval 
Subject: Financial policies 

Background: 
On Tuesday, January 3, Library Administration met with Budget and Finance Committee Co-Chair Rusk to review and 
discuss seven financial policies scheduled for review in January 2024.  A summary of recommended changes is below. 

Policy # Policy Name Date of 
Last review 

Notes 

A1. Levy and Budget 12/21/2021 No substantive changes 

A2. Library Fund 10/19/2021 Clarified the purpose of the Library Fund (#2) and cleaned up 
language around fund balance minimum (#4) 

A3. Purchasing 
*Clean and redline copies
included

11/16/2021 Increased Director Authority to spend to $10k; added clause for 
Library Director's expenditure approvals; Cleaned up language to 
reduce redundancy 

A4. Payments for Goods 
and Services 

10/19/2021 Updated to reflect current practice 

A6. Expense 
Reimbursement 

12/21/2021 Added #4, Approvals and payments 

A7. Credit Card Use 10/19/2021 Reduced spend limit to $1,500; clarified procedures 

A8. Capital Assets 10/19/2021 No changes recommended 

Recommended Motion: 
1. Approve revisions policies A1. Levy and Budget, A2. Library Fund, A3. Purchasing, A4. Payments for Goods

and Services, A6. Expense Reimbursement, A7. Credit Card Use and A8. Capital Assets.

9

Return to Agenda



A1. LEVY AND BUDGET APPROVAL 

POLICY: 

The Park Ridge Public Library is a municipal library. Illinois Local Library Act, 75 ILCS 5, 
dictates that the tax levy for municipal libraries must be channeled through the corporate 
authority. Therefore, the Library’s tax levy request to fund operating and capital 
expenditures is submitted annually to the Park Ridge City Council, for final approval. This 
process requires the Library to transmit all budget and levy documents to the City for 
inclusion in the City’s budget materials.   

RULES: 

1. The Library maintains Board approved line item budget.

2. Expenditures may not exceed appropriations at the fund level.

3. The budget is developed annually as a cooperative process between the Library Board,
the Director, and additional staff members with responsibility for specific line items.

4. The overall responsibility for the assumptions and timely preparations of materials and
presentations throughout the process rests with the Library Director., or in their absence,
the Finance Manager. .

5. Changes to the approved budget may be made mid-year.

a. The Library Director may transfer funds into or out of budget lines, not to exceed
a cumulative amount of $5,000. The Library Director must notify the Board when
transfers are authorized at the next regularly scheduled Board meeting.

b. Transfers into or out of line items of more than $5,000 require the approval of the
Library Board.

c. Library Administration may develop proposed budget carry forwards for the
Board’s consideration at the onset of the new fiscal year.

d. Budgetary changes that require supplemental funding resulting in a budget
amendment, require the approval of the Library Board, and ultimately, the Park
Ridge City Council.

Revised: XXX 

Approved: December 21, 2021 

Field Code Changed

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial

10

Return to Agenda

https://www.ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/ilcs5.asp?ActID=990&ChapterID=16


A2. LIBRARY FUND 

POLICY: 

The Board of Trustees will maintain adequate reserves in the Library Fund to support operations in the event 
that revenues are not realized or expenditures exceed expectations. 

RULES: 

1. The Board will review the Financial Report at each of their regular monthly meetings. The Library Director
will keep the Board informed on issues that affect the Library Fund, and particularly when there may not
be adequate funds available to maintain operations.

1. The Library Fund exists to fund Library operations and capital expenses.
2. 
2. The Library Fund exists to fund Library operations. However, with the approval of the Board it may also

be used for one time capital expenses and emergencies. 

3. All unspent funds from the annual operating budget will remain in the Library Fund.

4. Throughout the fiscal year, the Library shall have a goal of maintaining a fund balance of at least six
months of operating expensesAt the end of the fiscal year the Library Fund shall have reserves equal to
at least six months of operating expenses. If reserves exceed twelve months, the Library Board should
develop a plan for deficit spending to achieve the six monthsix-month reserve target.

Revised: xxx 
Revised: October 19, 2021 
Revised July 20, 2010 
Approved April 21, 2009 

11

Return to Agenda



A3. PURCHASING 

POLICY: 

The Board of Trustees is responsible for approving the expenditure of all library funds over which it has 
control. The operating budget of the Library acts as the spending plan for the fiscal year. The Library 
Director is authorized and directed to take such action with respect to the expenditure or commitment of 
the library funds as may be defined in the pertinent rules. In the event that the Library Director takes 
short-term leave of absence, the Finance/HR Manager will assume the financial responsibilities of the 
Library Director. 

RULES: 

1. Recurring Expenses:
a. The Library Director is authorized to make purchases of supplies, materials, library resources,

and other normal recurring items without prior Board approval so long as these purchases are
covered within budgeted amounts.

b. The Library Director is further authorized to purchase individual items that do not fall under
1a such as equipment or repairs up to $10,000 without prior Board approval so long as
these are covered within budgeted amounts.

c. The Library Director shall develop detailed specifications and secure written proposals or
quotes from suppliers and contractors when an expenditure for a single item or for an
aggregate purchase of like items of equipment or service is expected to be over $10,000,
but less than $24,999. Unless the Library has a prior satisfactory relationship with a vendor,
the Library Director will obtain at least three (3) competitive proposals to be submitted to the
Board for action through the appropriate committee.

2. Contracts for purchasing/leasing services, machinery or equipment:

a. The Library Director shall not enter into any contract for a period exceeding one year or for an
amount exceeding $10,000 without approval by the Library Board of Trustees.

b. The Library Director will not enter into any multiyear contract valued at more than $10,000
without approval by the Board of Trustees. An extension beyond the contract term will be
subject to approval by the Library Board of Trustees. The Library Director will obtain at least
(3) competitive bids as outlined in 1c.

3. Nonrecurring Expenses:
a. Nonrecurring expenses are typically one-time or project related expenses.

b. The Library Director shall develop detailed specifications and secure written proposals or
quotes from suppliers and contractors when an expenditure for a single item or for an
aggregate purchase of like items of equipment or service is expected to be over $10,000, but
less than $24,999. The Library Director will obtain at least three (3) competitive proposals to
be submitted to the Board for action through the appropriate committee.

c. The Library Director shall secure competitive bids from suppliers and contractors when an
expenditure is expected to exceed $25,000 in accordance with 75 ILCS 5/5.5. Such bids shall
be submitted to the Board for action through the appropriate committee.

Where competitive sealed bidding is utilized for purchases above $25,000, an invitation for
bids shall be issued which shall include a general description and all contractual terms and
conditions applicable to the procurement. Adequate public notice of the invitation for bids shall
be given at least fourteen (14) business days prior to the date set forth therein for the opening
of bids. In addition, every effort to distribute the invitation for bids through direct supplier
contact, local media, trade publications, purchasing cooperatives, procurement websites,

12

Return to Agenda

https://www.ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/ilcs5.asp?ActID=990&ChapterID=16


manufacturer contacts, and other cost effective means in order to foster a competitive bidding 
event. 

Bids shall be opened publicly in the presence of one or more witnesses at a time and place 
designated in the invitation for bids. Bids shall be unconditionally accepted without alteration 
or correction, and evaluated based on the requirements set forth in the invitation for bids, 
which may include criteria to determine acceptability such as terms of delivery, quality, 
serviceability and experience. Those criteria that will affect the bid price shall be objectively 
measurable. No criteria may be used in bid evaluation that is not set forth in the invitation for 
bids. The Library reserves the right to reject any and all bids and to make bid awards in the 
Library’s best interest.  

4. In rare situations where the Library Director is the initial originator of a purchase and the amount does
not require Board approval is not required, the Finance/HR Manager will approve the purchase.

5. The Library will procure Professional, Technical or Artistic Services according to the provisions of
Local Government Professional Services Selection Act (50 ILCS 510/1 et seq.).

6. The Library Director is authorized to obligate the Library for expenses up to $25,000 for emergency
repairs and equipment without prior Board action provided such expenditures can be accommodated
within the budget limitations for such items. The Board of Trustees will act on the expenditure at the
next appropriate meeting. Contracts for emergency expenditures are also exempt from competitive
bidding when the emergency expenditure is approved by 3/4 of the Board.

7. The Library shall have the authority to join with other units of government in cooperative purchasing
plans or in cooperative purchasing organizations, such as the Illinois Joint Purchasing Program
pursuant to 30 ILCS 525/0.01 et seq. when the best interests of the Library would be served.

8. No Library Trustee or employee of the Library shall have a personal interest in Library purchases or
contracts beyond the extent provided by law. (50 ILCS 105/3) Library trustees and employees shall
also comply with the provisions regarding bidding contained in 720 ILCS 5/33 E-1 et seq. pertaining
to public contracts.

9. The Library will keep records of all bidding activity, including competitive proposals and all solicitations
made to obtain them in accordance with the Library’s record retention schedule.

Revised XXX 
Revised November 16, 2021 
Revised December 15, 2020 
Revised May 15 2018 
Revised June 20, 2017 
Revised March 21, 2017 
Revised August 16, 2016 
Revised November 17, 2015 
Approved Mar 13, 1979 

13

https://www.ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/ilcs3.asp?ActID=726&ChapterID=11
https://www.ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/ilcs3.asp?ActID=537&ChapterID=7
https://www.ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/fulltext.asp?DocName=005001050K3
https://www.ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/ilcs4.asp?DocName=072000050HArt%2E+33&ActID=1876&ChapterID=53&SeqStart=85500000&SeqEnd=86600000


A3. PURCHASING 

POLICY: 

The Board of Trustees is responsible for approving the expenditure of all library funds over which it has 
control. The operating budget of the Library acts as the spending plan for the fiscal year. The Library 
Director or Library Finance Manager in the absence of the Library Director is authorized and directed to 
take such action with respect to the expenditure or commitment of the library funds as may be defined in 
the pertinent rules. In the event that the Library Director takes short-term leave of absence, the 
Finance/HR Manager will assume the financial responsibilities of the Library Director. 

RULES: 

1. Recurring Expenses:
a. The Library Director or Finance Manager in the absence of the Library Director is authorized

to make purchases of supplies, materials, library resources, and other normal recurring items
without prior Board approval so long as these purchases are covered within budgeted
amounts.

b. The Library Director or Finance Manager in the absence of the Library Director isDirector is
further authorized to purchase individual itemsitems that do not fall under 1a such as  of
equipment andequipment or to authorize rrepairs  up to $10,0005,000 without prior Board
approval so long as these are covered within budgeted amounts.

c. The Library Director  or Finance  Manager in the absence of the Library Director shall
develop detailed specifications and secure written proposals or quotes from suppliers and
contractors when an expenditure for a single item or for an aggregate purchase of like items
of equipment or service is expected to be over $10,000, but less than $24,999. Unless the
Library has a prior satisfactory relationship with a vendor, 5,000.00.Tthe Library Director or
Finance Manager in the absence of the Library Director will obtain at least three (3)
competitive proposals, based on external market factors, and make every reasonable effort
to solicit proposals through direct supplier contact, local media, trade publications, 
purchasing cooperatives, procurement websites, manufacturer contacts, and other cost 
effective means in order to cast the widest possible net for suppliers will be made. Such 
proposals shall to be submitted to the Board for action through the appropriate committee.

2. Contracts for purchasing/leasing services, machinery or equipment:

a. The Library Director or Finance Manager in the absence of the Library Director shall not enter
into any contract for a period exceeding one year or for an amount exceeding $5,000$10,000
without approval by the Library Board of Trustees.

b. The Library Director will not enter into any multiyear contract valued at more than $5,000
$10,000 without approval by the Board of Trustees. An extension beyond the contract term
will be subject to approval by the Library Board of Trustees. The Library Director or Finance
Manager in absence of the Library Director will obtain at least (3) competitive bids as outlined
in 1c. 

3. Nonrecurring Expenses:
a. Nonrecurring expenses are typically one-time or project related expenses.
a. 

b. The Library Director shall develop detailed specifications and secure written proposals or
quotes from suppliers and contractors when an expenditure for a single item or for an 
aggregate purchase of like items of equipment or service is expected to be over $10,000, but 
less than $24,999. The Library Director will obtain at least three (3) competitive proposals to 
be submitted to the Board for action through the appropriate committee.

Formatted: Not Highlight

Formatted: Not Highlight

Formatted: Normal, Justified, Indent: Left:  1",

Numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering Style: a, b, c, … +

Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  1.25" +

Indent at:  1.5", No widow/orphan control, Tab stops: 

0.75", Left

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.25",  No bullets or

numbering

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left:  0", Numbered +

Level: 2 + Numbering Style: a, b, c, … + Start at: 1 +

Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  1.25" + Indent at:  1.5",

No widow/orphan control, Tab stops:  0.75", Left

Formatted: Font color: Black

14



b. The Library Director or Finance  Manager in the absence of the Library Director shall develop
detailed specifications and secure written proposals or quotes from suppliers and contractors 
when an expenditure for a single item or for an aggregate purchase of like items of equipment 
or service is expected to be over $5,000.00.The Library Director or Finance Manager in the 
absence of the Library Director will obtain at least three (3) competitive proposals, based on 
external market factors, and make every reasonable effort to solicit proposals through direct 
supplier contact, local media, trade publications, purchasing cooperatives, procurement 
websites, manufacturer contacts, and other cost effective means in order to cast the widest 
possible net for suppliers will be made. Such proposals shall be submitted to the Board for 
action through the appropriate committee. 

c. The Library Director or Library Finance Manager in the absence of the Library Director shall
secure competitive bids from suppliers and contractors when an expenditure is expected to
exceed $25,000 in accordance with 75 ILCS 5/5.5. Such bids shall be submitted to the Board
for action through the appropriate committee.

Where competitive sealed bidding is utilized for purchases above $25,000, an invitation for
bids shall be issued which shall include a general description and all contractual terms and
conditions applicable to the procurement. Adequate public notice of the invitation for bids shall
be given at least fourteen (14) business days prior to the date set forth therein for the opening
of bids. In addition, every effort to distribute the invitation for bids through direct supplier
contact, local media, trade publications, purchasing cooperatives, procurement websites,
manufacturer contacts, and other cost effective means in order to foster a competitive bidding
event.

Bids shall be opened publicly in the presence of one or more witnesses at a time and place
designated in the invitation for bids. Bids shall be unconditionally accepted without alteration
or correction, and evaluated based on the requirements set forth in the invitation for bids,
which may include criteria to determine acceptability such as terms of delivery, quality,
serviceability and experience. Those criteria that will affect the bid price shall be objectively
measurable. No criteria may be used in bid evaluation that is not set forth in the invitation for
bids. The Library reserves the right to reject any and all bids and to make bid awards in the
Library’s best interest.

4. In rare situations where the Library Director is the initial originator of a purchase and the amount does
not require Board approval is not required, the Finance/HR Manager will approve the purchase. 

4.5. The Library will procure Professional, Technical or Artistic Services according to the provisions of 
Local Government Professional Services Selection Act (50 ILCS 510/1 et seq.). 

5.6. The Library Director or Library Business Manager in the absence of the Library Director is 
authorized to obligate the Library for expenses up to $25,000 for emergency repairs and equipment 
without prior Board action provided such expenditures can be accommodated within the budget 
limitations for such items. The Board of Trustees will act on the expenditure at the next appropriate 
meeting. Contracts for emergency expenditures are also exempt from competitive bidding when the 
emergency expenditure is approved by 3/4 of the Board. 

6.7. The Library shall have the authority to join with other units of government in cooperative 
purchasing plans or in cooperative purchasing organizations, such as the Illinois Joint Purchasing 
Program pursuant to 30 ILCS 525/0.01 et seq. when the best interests of the Library would be served. 

7.8. No Library Trustee or employee of the Library shall have a personal interest in Library purchases 
or contracts beyond the extent provided by law. (50 ILCS 105/3) Library trustees and employees shall 
also comply with the provisions regarding bidding contained in 720 ILCS 5/33 E-1 et seq. pertaining 
to public contracts. 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0"

Field Code Changed

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75",  No bullets or

numbering

Field Code Changed

Field Code Changed

Field Code Changed

Field Code Changed

15

https://www.ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/ilcs5.asp?ActID=990&ChapterID=16
https://www.ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/ilcs3.asp?ActID=726&ChapterID=11
https://www.ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/ilcs3.asp?ActID=537&ChapterID=7
https://www.ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/fulltext.asp?DocName=005001050K3
https://www.ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/ilcs4.asp?DocName=072000050HArt%2E+33&ActID=1876&ChapterID=53&SeqStart=85500000&SeqEnd=86600000


8.9. The Library will keep records of all bidding activity, including competitive proposals and all solicitations 
made to obtain them in accordance with the Library’s record retention schedule. 

Revised XXX 
Revised November 16, 2021 
Revised December 15, 2020 
Revised May 15 2018 
Revised June 20, 2017 
Revised March 21, 2017 
Revised August 16, 2016 
Revised November 17, 2015 
Approved Mar 13, 1979 

16



A4. PAYMENTS FOR GOODS AND SERVICES 

POLICY: 

The Board of Trustees is responsible for approving the expenditure of all Library funds. The approved annual 
operating budget establishes the spending plan for the fiscal year. The Treasurer of the Library Board of Trustees 
approves all payments for goods and services. 

RULES: 

1. The process for the approval of warrants and disbursement of funds is as follows:

a. Department Manager – initials invoice confirming that the expense was incurred, items were received and
billed amount is correct.

b. Accounts Payable – assigns a General Ledger account code to each invoice and enters it into the Accounts
Payable system, then totals the warrants.

c. Finance/HR Manager – reviews and approves the General Ledger account coding for all invoices to ensure
they are correctly coded, verifies that required departmental approvals are present and verifies that totals
are correct.

d. Library Director or other Board designee – reviews the warrant list and signs the affidavit, along with any
warrants for invoices over $2,000 to ensure adherence to Ppurchasing Ppolicy limits.

e. Board Treasurer – reviews the warrant list and signs the affidavit, along with any warrants for invoices over
$510,000 to ensure adherence to Ppurchasing Ppolicy limits.

City Finance Director or designee - reviews the warrants, initials each one, and signs the affidavit. and
returns the entire packet to the Library. 

f. 

f. City Treasurer – reviews and signs the affidavit containing the total dollar amount of warrants before printing
checks. 

g. Accounts Payable – prints the checks in the Finance Department at the City. Checks are mailed by the
Library the next day.

h.a. City Finance Director or designee - reviews the warrants, initials each one, signs the affidavit and returns 
the entire packet to the Library. 

2. The Library maintains a separation of duties between staff that orders materials and those that receive them,
and staff that verify correct billing and account coding.

3. In the absence of the Treasurer, the Secretary will approve all payments.

4. The Library complies with the Illinois Local Government Prompt Payment Act (50 ILCS 505).

Revised: xxx 
Revised: October 19, 2021 
Revised May 18, 2021 
Revised June 20, 2017 
Approved August 16, 2016 

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

Formatted: Font: 11 pt

17

Return to Agenda

https://www.ilga.gov/legislation/ILCS/ilcs3.asp?ActID=725&ChapterID=11


A6. EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT 

POLICY: 

The Park Ridge Public Library reimburses Trustees and staff for individual expenses incurred on behalf of the 
library. These expenses include, but are not limited to, materials, supplies, professional development 
opportunities, meals and travel. 

RULES: 

1. In accordance with the Illinois Wage Payment and Collection Act (820 ILCS 115/9.5), the Library will
reimburse staff for all necessary expenses that are directly related to services performed for Library within
the scope of employment. Materials and supply purchases made by personal payment method will be
reimbursed in accordance with procedures established by the Library’s Business Office.

2. In accordance with the Local Government Travel Expense Control Act (IL Public Act 99-0604) requires that
the Library regulate the reimbursement of Trustees and staff travel expenses as set forth below.

 The Library shall reimburse permitted travel expenses, defined as any expenditure directly incident to
official Library business travel by Trustees or Library staff.

 Maximum allowable reimbursements for food, lodging, and transportation will be posted in the
Business Office of the Library.

 Cost of travel shall be the actual expense incurred. Only coach flight expenses will be approved, any 
upgrades to first and business class will be at the expense of the traveler. Personal automobile expenses
will be approved at the IRS rate for business travel.

 Cost of food shall not include the cost of alcoholic beverages or other intoxicants and should be
reasonable and customary for the area.

 Cost of lodging should be reasonable and customary for the area where the traveler is staying.

 The total maximum allowed for any one trip per person for Library purposes is $2,500.

 The Library shall only approve reimbursement of expenses if the Trustee, the Director, or employee
submits said expenses on the Library’s reimbursement request form. 

 The Library shall not reimburse any Trustee, the Director, or employee for any entertainment expense
unless such expense is ancillary to the purpose of the program or event. Entertainment includes, but is
not limited to, shows, amusements, theaters, circuses, sporting events, concerts, or any other places of
public or private entertainment or amusement.

3. Approval of Certain Reimbursable Expenses
The following expenses for travel, meals, and lodging may only be approved by a roll call vote at a Regular
Meeting of the Board of Trustees.

 Any reimbursable expenses of the Director or an employee that exceeds the maximum allowed under
the regulations adopted in this policy.

 Any reimbursable expense of a Library Trustee.

 Any other reimbursable expenses due to an unforeseen emergency or other extraordinary
circumstances.

4. Approvals and Payment

 Approvals and payment for reimbursements will be processed and paid according to A4. Payments for Goods
and Services. 

Revised: XXX 
Approved: December 21, 2021 

Formatted: Left:  0.25", Right:  0.25", Top:  0.2", Bottom:

 0.2"

Field Code Changed

Field Code Changed

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.31"

Formatted: Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.56" +

Indent at:  0.81"

18

Return to Agenda

https://www.ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/ilcs3.asp?ActID=2402&ChapterID=68
https://www.ilga.gov/legislation/publicacts/fulltext.asp?Name=099-0604


A7. CREDIT CARD USE 

POLICY 

The purpose of this policy is to provide staff with clear expectations regarding the proper use of the Library’s 

business credit cards.  Use of a credit card is not intended to avoid nor bypass the Library’s established 

Ppurchasing and Ppayments for Ggoods and Sservices policies.  The Library Director, and up to 2 additional 

staff designated by the Director, are authorized to PRPL credit cards. Physical credit cards are stored in a 

locked drawer in the Library’s Business Office.  

RULES 

1. Authorized Purchases

a. Include, but are not limited to, library supplies and materials, maintenance supplies, and food for

PRPL events and programs.

b. Individual purchases must be covered within budgeted amounts, not to exceed $5,000.

Purchases over $5,000 require prior Board approval.

c. Purchases may be made in person, online, or by telephone.

d. When returning items purchased with a Library credit card, the cardholder is expected to follow

the vendor’s return policies.  The transaction must be credited to the credit card that was used

in the original purchase. Cash refunds are not permitted, under any circumstance.

e. Authorized cardholders shall submit all receipts for purchases to the Business Office, within 7

days after making a purchase.

f. The Library maintains a separation of duties between staff that orders materials and those that

receive them, and staff that verify correct billing and coding.

g. The Library BookkeeperAccounts Ppayable will reconcile all receipts/documents to monthly

credit card statements. 

g.h. The Finance/HR Manager reviews the statement and accompanying documentation to 

ensure that necessary approvals were granted. 

h.i. Monthly statements will be paid in full.

i. Itemization of the charges of the Library Credit Cards will be included in the Warrant List.

j. Any benefit received from Library Credit Card usage will accrue to PRPL.

2. Unauthorized Purchases

a. Cardholders may not charge expenses that are not for “Authorized Purchases” to the Library
Credit Cards.

b. Any purchase that is not an “Authorized Purchase” shall be deemed the responsibility of the
party charging such purchase and shall be reimbursed to PRPL before the payment date for
same is due.

c. Any unauthorized use of the Library Credit Card shall be grounds for suspension of use of the
Library Credit Card, suspension or dismissal from employment and may form the basis for
criminal charges to be brought.

d. The Board and/or the Director may revoke authorization to use a Library Credit Card at any
time.

3. Lost or Stolen Credit Cards

19

Return to Agenda



a. Loss or theft of Library cCredit cCards must be reported immediately to the Finance/HR
Manager.

Revised xxx 

Approved: October 19, 2021 

20



A8. CAPITAL ASSETS 

POLICY: 
The Park Ridge Public Library (the “Library) maintains a fixed asset ledger for the capitalization of assets. Properties 
are examined for approximate value and all items judged to be of sufficient worth are included in the inventory. The 
purpose of this policy is to provide control and accountability over capital assets, and to gather and maintain 
information needed for the preparation of financial statements. The Park Ridge Public Library capital asset policy is 
herein established to safeguard assets and to insure compliance with GASB34 for governmental financial reporting.  

RULES: 
1. Inventory

Responsibility for control of capital assets will rest with the operating department wherein the asset is located.

The Park Ridge Public Library shall ensure that such control is maintained by establishing an inclusive capital

asset inventory schedule. Asset purchases, which fall below the capitalization threshold, will not be included in

the capital asset inventory.

2. Definition of a Fixed Asset
Capital Assets are major assets that have a presence in more than a single accounting period. They include
such items as land, buildings, furnishings and equipment, and vehicles. The Library will use the following capital
asset categories when accounting for capital assets:

A. Land
B. Construction in Process
C. Works of Art
D. Buildings
E. Machinery and Equipment
F. Office Furniture
G. Vehicles
H. Books and Library Materials

3. Valuing Capital Assets
Capital assets should be valued at cost or historical costs, plus those costs necessary to place the asset in its
location (i.e. freight, installation charges.) In the absence of historical costs information, a realistic estimate will
be used. Donated assets will be recorded at the estimated current fair market value.

4. Capitalizing
When to Capitalize Assets:
Assets are capitalized at the time of acquisition. To be considered a capital asset for financial reporting purposes
an item must be at or above the capitalization threshold and have a useful life of at least one year.

Assets not Capitalized:
Capital assets below the capitalization threshold on a unit basis but warranting “control” shall be inventoried at
the department level and an appropriate list will be maintained.

Capital Assets should be capitalized if they meet the following criteria:

 Tangible

 Useful life of more than one year (benefit more than a single fiscal period)

 Cost exceeds designated threshold

5. Park Ridge Public Library may have the following major classes of assets:

A. Land and Inexhaustible Land Improvements – Capitalized value is to include the purchase price plus
costs such as legal fees and filing fees; improvements such as excavation work, preparation of land for
construction, landscaping.

B. Works of Art – Capitalized value is to include the purchase or acquisition cost of artwork.21

Return to Agenda



C. Buildings – Costs include purchase price plus costs such as legal fees and filing fees; improvements
include structures and all other property permanently attached to, or an integral part of the structure.
These costs include re-roofing, electrical/plumbing, carpet replacement, and HVAC.

D. Machinery and Equipment – Assets included in this category are heavy equipment, generators, phone
system and kitchen equipment.

E. Office Furniture – Assets included in this category are office furniture.

F. Vehicles – Costs include purchase price plus costs such as title & registration.

G. Books and Library Materials – Book and Material assets include all items that are purchased for loan to
patrons.  All physical library material is capitalized as a single addition as opposed to individual
purchases.

6. Depreciation
Depreciation is computed on a straight-line method with depreciation computed on a monthly basis from the
month of acquisition. Additions and improvements will only be capitalized if the cost either enhances the asset’s
functionality or extends the asset’s useful life.

Estimated Useful Lives
Useful Life Capitalization Threshold 

Land    N/A  $1 

Works of Art      N/A  $10,000 

Buildings  50 years      $50,000 

 Machinery and Equipment  3 - 20 years  $10,000 

Office Furniture  3 - 10 years  $10,000 

 Vehicles      10 years      $10,000 

Books and Library Materials  10 years   $1 

7. OTHER
A. Removing Capital Assets from Inventory - Capital assets are to be removed from inventory once they are

obsolete or claimed as surplus property. The item must be removed from the inventory listing and
reported to the Business Office.

B. Donations or Transfer - Each Department must add additions and deletions from donated or transferred
assets to the inventory listing.

C. Surplus Property - Each Department must report all capital assets classified as surplus to the finance
department.

D. Lost or Stolen Property - When suspected or known losses of inventoried assets occur, the Department
should conduct a search for the missing property. The search should include transfer to another
department, storage, and scrapping, surplus property.

Reviewed: xxx 
Revised: October 19, 2021 
Approved May 18, 2021 

22



Memorandum 

Memo Date: January 4, 2024 
From: Joanna Bertucci, Library Director 

Jennifer Healy, Marketing Supervisor 
Meeting Type: Planning and Operations Committee 
Meeting Date: January 9, 2024 

Action Requested: For review and approval 
Subject: Display case/exhibits policy 

Background: 
The Library’s display case/exhibits policy is scheduled for review in January 2024.  In consultation with the Library’s 
Marketing Supervisor, Jennifer Healy, I am recommending the attached revisions.  Ms. Healy is responsible for 
scheduling display case exhibitors.  

Recommended Motion: 
1. Approve revisions to Display case/exhibits policy.

23

Return to Agenda



C21. DISPLAY CASES/EXHIBITS 

POLICY: 

Display cases for exhibits stimulate interest, provide information, develop aesthetic 
appreciation and furnish an opportunity for community- based individuals members and 
non for profit organizations to display artistic, educational or informational materials. A 
display case is available for exhibits of different forms of art and collections, or special 
exhibits.  

RULES: 

1. Application to use the display case must be made using the “Display Request Form”
available from the Business Office and on the Library’s website. Acceptance of an
exhibit will be determined by the Library Director or their designee.

2. Materials which may be displayed in the display case are limited to items of general
interest such as arts and crafts, collections, historical material, hobby collections, and
educational materials prepared by individuals or groups. Displays must be of general
interest to the public and must be of a non for profit naturerepresent or promote a
nonprofit organization or philanthropic cause. Materials deemed inaccurate or in
violation of Conduct in the Library may be removed at the discretion of the Library
Director.

3. Priority for use of the display case is given to Park Ridge residents and to non for profit
organizations associated with Park Ridge.

4. Display case exhibits are limited to one month.

5. Each display case exhibitor will be encouraged to provide a brief informative article and
photo, if desired, for use in Library marketing materials and on the Library website.

6. Art work displayed in the display case may be identified as “for saleavailable for
purchase from the artist,” however no price tags shall be affixed to any work exhibited.
Information about purchasing items including contact information shall be provided by
the artist.

7. Arrangement of exhibits in the display case shall be the responsibility of the exhibitor
under the supervision of Library staff.

8. The Library assumes no responsibility for the safety of any items placed on exhibit.
Items on display in the Library are provided the same security as the library collection
and equipment. The display case is locked, but irreplaceable items or items of great
value should not be included in the display. Insurance covering the value of the exhibit
will be the responsibility of the exhibitor. Prior to the display, the exhibitor/owner will
complete a “Waiver of Liability.”.

9. The Library reserves the right to remove any display or exhibit that the exhibitor has
not removed by the agreed upon end date specified on the “Display Request Form.”
The Library reserves the right to dispose of items not claimed 30 days after the specified
end date of the exhibit.

Formatted: Font: 9 pt, Font color: Black

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0.5"

24



10. Due to the high demand for the use of the display case, groups and organizations are
eligible to use the space only once per year, based on availability.

Revised xxx 
Revised March 17, 2022 
Revised June 18, 2019 
Revised October 15, 2013 
Revised May 21, 2013 
Revised May 18, 2010 
Approved March 13, 1979 

Formatted: Tab stops:  -0.46", Left +  -0.25", Left + 

-0.05", Left +  0.56", Left +  0.94", Left +  1.31", Left + 

6.25", Left + Not at  7"

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

25



THE DISPLAY  CASE/EXHIBITS REQUEST FORM 

 Park Ridge Public Library  20 S. Prospect  Park Ridge, IL 60068  (847) 825-3123 

Request for Use of 2nd Floor Display Case 

Name: 

(Full legal name of Organization, if applicable) 

Address: 

Phone:  Day Phone: (Day) Email: 

(Evening) Evening

Type of Exhibit (describe briefly): 

Month PreferencePreferred Month:  (The Library does not guarantee that this preference can be 
accommodated.) 

I hereby acknowledge that I have read and received a copy of the “Display/ and Exhibits” policy 
and agree to comply with all of the provisions contained therein. I understand that the Park Ridge 
Public Library cannot be held responsible for any damage or theft that may occur during the period 
of time the exhibit is on display. 

Signature 

Approved 
Display Date: 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Tab stops: Not at  3.69" +  7.38"

26



Library Director or Designee: ____________ Date: ________________ 

Revised xxx 
Revised March 17, 2022 
Revised June 18, 2019 
Revised October 15, 2013 
Revised May 21, 2013 
Revised May 18, 2010 
Approved March 13, 1979 

27



Waiver of Liability 
for Display of Works of Art 

Collections or Books 

The undersigned 

whose legal residence is 

has delivered to the Park Ridge Public Library the items hereafter described with the 

understanding that they will be displayed in the Library during the period   to  . The 

undersigned is the owner of said items and is willing and desirous that the same be exhibited to 

the public. 

The undersigned does hereby release the City of Park Ridge and the Park Ridge Public Library 

their officers, agents, and employees of and from all liabilities which may result from any damage 

to or loss of such items while in the custody of and while so being exhibited by the Park Ridge 

Public Library, which items are here described and valued as follows: 

Signature Date 

28



xxx 

Revised March 15, 2022 
Revised June 18, 2019 

Revised October 15, 2013 
Revised May 18, 2010 
Approved April 18, 2000 

29



12 of 12 months 100%

REVENUE ACCOUNTS BUDGET REVISED BUDGET DECEMBER ACTUAL YTD ACTUAL % RECEIVED NOTES

Local Government Taxes 4,302,661$            4,302,661$                 9,071$             2,908,843$              68%

State Grants 108,500$               108,500$                     $ 108,493$                 100%

Other Receipts 137,000$               137,000$                     15,272$                       234,024$                 171%

Total Revenue 4,548,161$          4,548,161$   24,343$         3,251,359$           71%

ACCOUNT # OPERATING ACCOUNTS BUDGET  REVISED BUDGET  NOVEMBER ACTUAL  YTD EXPENDITURES % SPENT

9100 Salaries 2,453,799$            2,430,799$                 261,507$                     2,281,058$              94%

9210 Employee Benefits 655,266$               678,266$                     54,982$                       582,950$                 86%

9317 Data Processing 322,000$               319,150$                     4,520$             278,231$                 87%

9321 Building Maintenance 176,500$               173,500$                     7,942$             116,623$                 67%

9324 Membership, Recruiting, Training 29,000$                 29,000$                       1,257$             22,017$                   76%

9351 Equipment Rental 27,000$                 27,000$                       1,771$             21,514$                   80%

9359 Consulting Services 20,000$                 15,000$                       -$             2,595$           17%

9360 Public Relations 40,000$                 48,800$                       6,324$             45,063$                   92%

9385 General Contractural 105,100$               108,400$                     4,048$             95,474$                   88%

9385 General Contractural - Programs 60,000$                 68,000$                       6,193$             62,099$                   91% Transfer $8K from YS Resources to Programs

9416 Audit 9,300$                    9,000$             -$             9,000$           100%

9425 Special Counsel 25,000$                 23,500$                       225$                 13,744$                   58%

9510 Supplies 62,500$                 86,665$                       9,255$             68,116$                   79% Carry Forward $22,615 from FY22

9511 Staff Appreciation 2,000$                    2,500$             391$                 1,746$                      70%

9520 Computer Materials 30,000$                 39,710$                       4,619$             34,737$                   87% Carry Forward $9,710 from FY22

9540 Library Resources 646,500$               637,000$                     50,876$                       594,343$                 93% Decreased by $8K to Programs

Total Operating Budget 4,663,965$          4,696,290$   413,912$       4,229,307$           90%

Capital Projects Budget

9908 Computer Equipment 50,000$                 50,000$                       9,554$             38,027$                   76%

9963 Building Repairs 290,000$               679,008$                     64,665$                       239,901$                 35% Carry Forward $389,008 from FY22

Total Capital Projects Budget 340,000$  729,008$       74,219$         277,928$  38%

TOTAL BUDGET 5,003,965$          5,425,298$   488,131$       4,507,235$           83%

LIBRARY SURPLUS (DEFICIT) (455,804)$            (877,137)$     (463,788)$     (1,255,876)$          

Park Ridge Public Library

Consolidated YTD Revenue and Expenditures

Period 12-December 2023

30

Return to Agenda



Park Ridge Public Library - Secretary’s Report 
January 16, 2024 

PRPL Web Site News Items 

 Park Ridge Library partners with Good Food Pantry on holiday drive - General News - News |
Park Ridge Library   December 15, 2023

 Winter Reading begins Friday, December 22 - General News - News | Park Ridge Library
December 19, 2023

 The Library will be closed New Year's Eve and New Year's Day. - General News - News | Park
Ridge Library  December 28, 2023

Press Articles 

 Talk Centers On Homelessness In Park Ridge - Journal & Topics Media Group (journal-
topics.com)  December 22, 2023

 DAR Hosts Genealogy Workshop - Journal & Topics Media Group (journal-topics.com) January
11, 2024 

 Minor Renovations Planned For Mount Prospect Library To Join Catalog Consortium - Journal &
Topics Media Group (journal-topics.com)  January 10, 2024

31

Return to Agenda

https://www.parkridgelibrary.org/park-ridge-library-partners-with-good-food-pantry-on-holiday-drive/
https://www.parkridgelibrary.org/park-ridge-library-partners-with-good-food-pantry-on-holiday-drive/
https://www.parkridgelibrary.org/winter-reading-begins-friday-december-22/
https://www.parkridgelibrary.org/the-library-will-be-closed-new-years-eve-and-new-years-day/
https://www.parkridgelibrary.org/the-library-will-be-closed-new-years-eve-and-new-years-day/
https://www.journal-topics.com/articles/talk-centers-on-homelessness-in-park-ridge/
https://www.journal-topics.com/articles/talk-centers-on-homelessness-in-park-ridge/
https://www.journal-topics.com/articles/dar-hosts-genealogy-workshop-2/
https://www.journal-topics.com/articles/minor-renovations-planned-for-mount-prospect-library-to-join-catalog-consortium/
https://www.journal-topics.com/articles/minor-renovations-planned-for-mount-prospect-library-to-join-catalog-consortium/


Dec. 2023

Dec-23 Nov-23 YTD 2022 YTD 2021 YTD 2019 YTD % Change 

2022 to 2023

Analysis  

CIRCULATION OVERVIEW
Physical items 47,410 49,567           640,406    636,413      568,281   773,489       1% Total Circulation is up 9% over prior year and circulation of digital materials continues to 
Digital items 20,141 19,600           183,810    119,632      123,150   87,840         54% drive that growth.
TOTAL 67,551 69,167           824,216    756,045      691,431   861,329       9%

PROGRAMS

Adult Programs 18 28 319            342 144           253 -7% Number of adult programs and attendance is down from prior year but far exceeds 
Adult Attendees 484 690 7,395         7,740           5,621        4,026           -4% pre-COVID levels - attendance has increased 84% since 2019.
Youth Programs 49 52 576            529 390           424 9% Youth programs and attendance exceed all reported years!  A 59% increase in attendance
Youth Attendees 1682 1480 17,757      11,183         5,793        14,513         59% with a 9% increase in # of programs indicates greater per program attendance.

OUTREACH
Home Delivery - Patrons served 21 31 333            359 284           205 -7% Home delivery stats include both homebound and other deliveries. Homebound 
Home Delivery - Materials loaned 79 125 1,216         1,358           1,195        1,116           -10% deliveries are steady while demand for other deliveries has declined. 
Book clubs served 24 52 530            498 441           501 6% Support for local book clubs has increased both in terms of number of 
Items loaned to book clubs 182 455 4,493         4,290           3,786        4,560           5% clubs served and number of items loaned. 

TECHNOLOGY
Wi-Fi Sessions 47,851 36,966           522,911    542,729      375,463   1,092,072   -4% Use of public computers is up 29% over prior year. While usage has increased from 2022 
Wi-Fi - unique clients 1,903 1,700 18,896      15,652         10,225     - 21% levels, it has not returned to pre-Covid levels, consistent with national trends. 
Public PC Sessions 1,188 1,234 15,577      12,095         5,592        23,710         29% 21% more unique clients are wi-fi users while overall # of sessions is down 4%

WEBSITE
Visits 14,407 14,891           209,264    206,372      230,894   217,366       1% Both the number of visits to the website and the number of unique users are on par with
Unique users 6,869 7,065 101,563    101,488      109,129   107,020       0%  the prior year. New website roll out planned in 2024. 

USERS
New cards issued 161 153 2,214         2,235           1,857        2,215           -1% December saw 161 new cards issued.  
Total PRPL cardholders 19,020 18,970           19,020      18,597         19,021     24,332         2% Total number of cardholders at year end increased 2% over 2022 levels.   
Unique users 9,035 8,994 9,035         8,984           3,801        3,576           1% Unique users increased YTD by 1% over 2022.  More individuals are using the library.
BUILDING USAGE
Door count 21,912 23,061           283,054    236,455      132,251   208,755       20% 2023 Door counts are 20% higher than 2022 and significantly exceed pre-COVID levels.   

Meetings rooms-community use 2 5 76 38 11 27 100% Meeting room usage by community groups has doubled since 2022.  
Study Rooms - hours of use 1,024 1,134 12,933      11,821         5,001        n/a 9% Study room usage is 9% greater than in 2022. 
The Studio- hours of use 50 40 501            216 n/a n/a 132% Studio usage ended the year at 132% higher than 2022!
The Media Lab - hours of use 75 55 820            696 n/a n/a 18% Media Lab usage has also significantly increased (18%) compared with 2022.
STRATEGIC PLAN: Provide support to local teachers, students, homeschool families and learners of all ages
School Loans 18 31 228            164 129           289 39% The number of school loans is up 39% over 2022.  
Items loaned to Teachers 534 606 4,831         4,627           3,991        6,188           4% The number of items loaned to teachers increased 4% over prior year
Total Teacher Library cards 160 157 152            124 82 101 23% Number of teacher cards has increased 23% over 2022 levels.  

Cardholders* 48% 48% 48% 47% 48% 65% Percentage of cardholders increased 1% over 2022 levels; down from pre-pandemic levels, 

but consistent with national averages.  
NOTES:

City of Park Ridge, 2020 Census 39,656           
City of Park Ridge, 2010 Census 37,479           

32

Return to Agenda



TO: Library Board of Trustees 
FROM: Joanna Bertucci, Library Director 
DATE: January 16, 2024 
SUBJECT: Library Director’s Report  

Administration & Board 

 Our quarterly and final project report for the Live and Learn Grant were submitted to the State Library
on January 5, 2024.

 The Per Capita Grant Application was sent to the State Library on January 5, 2024.

Staff Updates and Professional Development: 

 We welcomed Ms. Deidre Winterhalter to our Adult Services Department in December.  Ms.
Winterhalter is our newest substitute Reference librarian.

Winter Reading for all age began on December 22!  Our harp seal 
mascot has been very popular with our younger patrons.  The 
Children’s room is featuring a find the seal game for our monthly 
passive program to tie in with Winter Reading.  154 adults, 395 kids, 
101 teens have signed up for Winter Reading. Planning for Summer 
Reading 2024 is underway! 

Strategic Plan Monthly Progress: 

 Encourage individual growth and lifelong learning

o Planning meetings are underway for the 2024 Picture Book Genrefiction project.  Youth
Services staff, Technical services staff and I have been meeting to discuss material processing
logistics to develop procedures and a project timeline.

o Due to low usage, we are replacing TumbleBooks with LOTE4Kids in 2024.  LOTE4Kids is a new
online book resource with an extensive collection of world language titles.

 Build up a strong workforce and local businesses

o The Youth Services Department collaborated with the Language Academy for our international
languages story time programs.

 Align with strategy and set the stage for development

o No activity in December

 Develop Civic Education for an informed and engaged citizenry.

o We welcomed 40 donors for our December 28 blood drive facilitated by Versiti.  120 potential
patients will be helped through our efforts.  For 2023, we hosted 3 blood drives, collecting 163
units of blood that helped to save 489 lives!

33

Return to Agenda



o We collected approximately 230 lbs. of food on behalf of the Good Food Pantry.   This was our
first partnership with the Good Food Pantry and we look forward to hosting future food drives
to support their fight against hunger.

Finance and Human Resources 

 The Business Office and the Acquisitions team are monitoring budget lines as we move into Period 13
of FY23.

o The Period 12 Consolidated YTD report reflects 90% of the operating budget expended.  We
except to see that percentage increase as the Business Office will be closing Period 13 before
January 31, 2024.

o The Capital Projects line is at 38% expended as of 12/31/2023.  We anticipate a large
expenditure of funds in period 13, as we have not processed December project invoices.

o At the February COW, I will present the proposed carry forwards for the FY24 budget.  While
both building projects are sustainably complete, final payments/closeout will not be processed
until punch list items are completed.  The Library will continue to carry forward approximately
$12,000 for the Ice Melt System project and residual funds from the 2021 Fire Suppression
project.

 As of the writing of this report, the City has not updated our property tax revenue since November 30.
As per Munis, the Library has received $2,690,721 in property tax receipts.  Reports from Cook County
for December 2023 indicate that the Library received an additional $1,290,295 in tax revenue, bringing
our yearend total to $3,980,760 or 97% of anticipated tax revenue. It is possible that additional
revenue will come in January, as the County may still be processing payments.

 City of Park Ridge Finance Director Chris Lipman confirmed that the 2024 IMRF employer contribution
rate is 2.43% for all eligible employees.

 Finance/HR Manager, Joan Wrenn, has been working with ADP to prepare W-2s and 1095c documents.

 The Library initiated the following budget transfers:

Date Transfer from Transfer to Amount 

12/28/2023 Administration – Audit Administration – Bank Service Charge $300 

Building and Grounds: 

 Facility Manager, John Priala, continued to manage our two building projects in December.  Both
projects are substantially completed.  Punch list items will be addressed before final closeout.

 Mr. Priala and CVI Systems Engineer, Tim Brzny, are continuing to work with Comcast on the logistics
for our fiber internet circuit upgrade.

Marketing and Public Relations 

 Winter Reading kicked off December 22 with posters, signage and digital artwork illustrated by our
very own Kerstin Henke. A bookmark series featuring quotes suggested by staff will be distributed
throughout January.  These highly custom and beautiful bookmarks are very popular with our patrons.

 Work on the website is nearly complete. The management team is currently reviewing the demo site
and providing great feedback. Marketing Supervisor, Jen Healy, participated in a training with the
Weblinx team on WordPress, the website’s platform.  Feedback from Ms. Healy indicates that the
backend is extremely intuitive and user-friendly in comparison to the current Americaneagle content
management system. We are excited about the clean look and modern layout the Weblinx team

34

https://goodfoodpantry.godaddysites.com/


created and look forward to being able to add our own professional photos of the materials, programs 
and events and the patrons who enjoy them. 

 Ms. Healy has started posting more reels and stories on Facebook as well as Instagram. Our Facebook
reach was up 42.7% and visits to our page were up 17% in December. Instagram reach was up 5%, but
profile visits were up 49.7%. Our number of new Instagram followers for the month of December was
up 29% from the previous month. We are happy to see more users interacting with our social media
presence.

Notable Programs, Collections, and Services: 

 Our winter program season is off to a great start.  Sixty-five patrons of all ages joined us on December
21 for our “‘A Charlie Brown Christmas’ Concert with the Mick Archer Trio.”

 Patrons continue to be supportive and pleased with the addition of the Calming Space to the
Children’s Department.  Since opening on December 1, the space has been used over 60 times! We are
pleased to report that 172 patrons attended 10 sessions of our Low Sensory Sunday programs, which is
an average of 17 attendees per program.

Respectfully Submitted, 

Joanna Bertucci 
January 12, 2024

35



PARK RIDGE PUBLIC LIBRARY 

LIBRARY DIRECTOR’S REPORT – DECEMBER 2023 

PERSONNEL 

1. Appointments: The following personnel have been appointed to positions as noted below:

Deidre Winterhalter, Adult Services, Substitute Reference Librarian, Effective December 19

2. Departures: The following personnel have left the Library as noted below:

3. Changes in Status: The following personnel have had changes to their position as noted below.

4. Volunteers: The following personnel have been accepted as volunteer workers in the Library as
noted below:

None

36



December 2023 Report 

 Held 2023 Annual Meeting

 Approved 2024 Wish List for $24,000 plus an additional $500 for library employee

appreciation

 Reported delivery of 300 of requested 400 books to Franklin School for their “birthday

gift for every child” program

 Announced Cozy Winter Pop-up Sale for January 13

37

Return to Agenda



38

Return to Agenda



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50

Return to Agenda



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64


	1. Board Agenda_01_16_2024
	2. 12.19.23 Board minutes draft
	3. 1_CashStatement_CY23_DEC
	3.5 Rev_Exp_Chart_DEC
	4. RatificationandApprovalofDisbursements_Payments_DEC
	5. MEMO_Financial policies
	6. A1. Levy and Budget approval_draft_JB
	7. A2. Library fund_draft_JB
	8. A3. Purchasing_draft_clean_BOARD
	9. A3. Purchasing_draft_redline_JB - Copy
	10. A4. Payments for Goods and Services_draft_Board verision
	11. A6. Expense reimbursement_draft_JB
	12. A7. Credit card use_draft_Board verision
	13. A8. Capital Asset Policy_draft_JB
	14.  MEMO_Display case policy
	15. C21. Display Case and Exhibits_Board verision
	16. ConYTD_December
	17. 1.16.24 Board Secretary Report
	18. FY23_Stat Sheet_Board Reporting 2.0
	19. January 2024
	20. CHANGES 12.31.23
	21. FOL Report
	22. Cover_WarrantTotals_12.16.2023
	23. Cover_WarrantTotals_12.29.2023



